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Thomas Faist, Female,  Coby Smith

Interview of Mr. Coby Smith. Interviewed by Thomas Faist for the Everett R. Cook Oral History Collection, courtesy of the Memphis Public Library.
Mr. Coby Smith is a graduate of Southwestern at Memphis. He was a founding member of the activist group The Invaders. He was a local activist in Memphis during the Sanitation Strike of 1968.  Mr. Smith discusses the environment of Memphis during this time and how is organization worked and perceived by others. He also discussed his militant group’s interaction with the non-violent civil rights organizations. 
This interview was done in 1983 for the Everett R. Cook Oral History Collection on Civil Rights. This interview was made available to the Crossroads to Freedom Digital Archive through a partnership with the Memphis Public Library.

The transcripts represent what was said in the interview to the best of our ability. It is possible that some words, particularly names, have been misspelled. We have made no attempt to correct mistakes in grammar.

Coby Smith:
That would give me a scholarship.  They were tryin’ to get rid of me.  Dave [inaudible]    
Female:
Who was Dave [inaudible]?  One of your old classmates?

Coby Smith:
No; he’s the dean of admissions.  [Audio stops and starts]  -- Alan, Ray  Alan has done.

Female:
Thomas, excuse me, what nationality are you?

Thomas Faist:
German.

Female:
That’s what I thought.  You sound different.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; quite different I think.

Female:
Right; uh huh; but it sounds good, but I can tell you’re not an American.

Coby Smith:
I had some very good friends.  During that time, Joanna – I’ll never be able to pronounce the last name.  It’s that Southwestern yeah; she’s so wonderful.  She broke her foot.  She fell down – she went over to Overton Park and fell down the shaft –

[Female talking in background]


-- near the bus lanes tryin’ to avoid the bus and crushed her foot.

Female:
Oh my goodness.
[0:01:00]
Coby Smith:
I mean absolutely crushed it into millions of pieces.  They had to rebuild, reconstruct her bones.  Nobody ever thought she would walk again. But she did.  She had a sister who was so pretty.

Female:
Ya’ always remember the pretty.  

Coby Smith:
Joanna was not pretty, but she was so mature, so open minded, so interested in life.  Her sister was almost like a regular fraternity girl.

Thomas Faist:
That’s interesting.  You don’t find that kind of –

Coby Smith:
Except no real interest in any – no real knowledge in anything.  She was a very shallow girl, Joanna.  A big French girl I used to 

[0:02:00]

date, Michelle Kemp.  Never forget her.  She was very robust.  She talked so loud.  She was like – who’s the big girl who died?  Used to sing rock music.  

Female:
Mama Cass?
Coby Smith:
Before her.  Better than her.

Female:
Carole King wasn’t so big.

Coby Smith:
Yeah; she –

Female:
Not Carole King; Karen Carpenter.

Coby Smith:
No; Carole King.

Female:
Carole King is not dead.  No she isn’t.  

Coby Smith:
Who’s the big girl who had all the – the best known –

Female:
Mama Cass.

Coby Smith:
Mama Cass was not as well known as this other girl.  She wasn’t as well known as Carole King.

Female:
Well Carole King is not dead.  

Female:
Karen Carpenter is.

Female:
No, she isn’t.

Coby Smith:
Yes; she is.  Yes; she is dead.  She OD’d.

Female:
Carole King is not dead.  [inaudible]--

Coby Smith:
Who OD’d right after Jimmy Hendrix?

Female:
Oh, you’re talkin’ about Janice Joplin.

Coby Smith:
Yeah; Janice Joplin.

Female:
Oh my goodness.

Coby Smith:
Well, I’ll be damned.  

Female:
I know.

Coby Smith:
But she was a wonderful girl.  Michelle looked like her.  She 

[0:03:00]
looked like she ran a bordeaux or somethin’.  ‘Coby, Coby, come go with me hea.  These people are just insane.  I don’t know how to cope with them.  Please, just come.  Put your arms around me, please.’  So rough.  Oh gosh, this girl was insane.


She says, ‘My land lady does not want you to visit me.  This is absurd I will move tomorrow.’  Had a good time.  Had a good time.

Thomas Faist:
Coby, what I would like to know is I read in the Mississippi Valley Collection an interview with Reverend Lawson who was at that time, 1966, the head of the MAP South.  He mentioned the fact that you and Joe Cabbage were working for MAP South organizing young people down there.  There also was an incident when I think Joe Cabbage and John Smith – Smith, is that right?  They went into a gas station and filled their car –

[0:04:00]
Coby Smith:
They didn’t fill it up.  They only had about $3.00.  They didn’t fill up, but the service station attendant stole their gas cap.  They make the mistake of callin’ the police.

Thomas Faist:
That’s what Lawson also told them.

Coby Smith:
When the police got there they didn’t like the way they looked or the way they sounded so they arrested them, all of ‘em.  Took ‘em to jail.  Those were our first guys in jail.  We had a big deal about it.


At that time we thought Lawson was a tremendous ally of ours.  Turned out not to be.  

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; and as far as I recall from what Lawson said to those people who interviewed him at the beginning of the 60s he said that John Smith and Joe Cabbage, is that right?  They were brought to a sort of a trial.  People made up of the MAP South and Lucias Berge and Mike Cody  the lawyers –

5:00
Coby Smith:
No.  Cab and I were brought – we were the ones on the payroll.  We made $30.00 a month
Segment 2 begins at 5:07:29
 and we were brought to a hearing.  I used to have the photographs of that thing.  I don’t have ‘em any longer.


Washington Butler who was head of the CAA in those days, Community Action Agency.  At that time Lucias Berge represented me and Mike Cody.  They came and they fought for our rights.  A.W. Willis, Jessie Turner and Jim Lawson actually voted against us.

Thomas Faist:
So you were fired [inaudible].

Coby Smith:
Ah, they let us go.  From a $30.00 a month job because I belonged to SNCC.  The Southern Nonviolent Coordinating Committee.  

Thomas Faist:
Were the other people in Memphis belonging to SNCC?

[0:06:00]
Coby Smith:
No; I was really the organizer.  I organized Charles Cabbage and John Smith.  I brought Charles Cabbage back from Atlanta, Georgia.  John used to be my brother-in-law’s roommate.  Corey’s father’s roommate.

Female:
Yeah; okay.

Coby Smith:
He got intensely involved in movement and both of them had good jobs at that time out at the Army Depot.  John ended up leaving his job and really becoming politicized.  He now is – I think he just completed his master’s out at Memphis State.  He was doing additional graduate work there.  

Thomas Faist:
Oh yeah; that’s what people told me, too.  

Coby Smith:
He’s an individual who suffered very greatly in the movement.  I spent most of my time tryin’ to keep him out of jail.  They unfortunately were prone to be more involved with street gang activities than I.

[0:07:00]
So when we had an opportunity [Slap sound] – missed again.  When we had an opportunity to really penetrate areas where young people were hopeless, Charles and John and James Philips who’s now a paraplegic, who incidentally had a lobotomy done on him when he was in jail for armed robbery, which has resulted in his paralysis, were all men involved in that movement.

Thomas Faist:
And how many young people did you organize in 1966 for your group?

Coby Smith:
We had about 300 people, which sounds like a lot of people.  In those days it was because in those days nobody could wear a beard 

[0:08:00]
or long hair.  No Blacks wore head full of hair.  Picture there.  That photograph incidentally was taken in New Haven, Connecticut.  I was the speaker at African Liberation Day the year after Bobby Seal was the featured speaker.  But we had a good time.  A lot of involvement.  A lot of youngsters who wanted to rally around people who would speak up for justice.  


Unlike the rest of young people involved, I had come up in the traditional Black organization.  Shelby County Democratic Club, the NAACP organization.  So I had had tremendous experience at that level.

Thomas Faist:
When did you first become involved with the Shelby County Democratic Club?

Coby Smith:
1959.  In 1959 I was about 12 years old.

Thomas Faist:
You got in the NAACP about the same time.

[0:09:00]
Coby Smith:
Yes, but I had been going to NAACP meetings before then and had become a member, but it was the NAACP that basically had the action program in those days.  The action program started out with desegregation activities, integrating lunch counters, movies.  We used to get free tickets to the movies.  Poor kids with a free ticket to the movie

After school we’d go down and we were the only ones in the movie.  Just go in and sit down in the White only section.

Thomas Faist:
As far as I recall the NAACP wasn’t very favorable to SNCC activities.  Is that right?

Coby Smith:
That’s right.

Thomas Faist:
And why not?  Was the SNCC  known as to be too militant, too radical?

[0:10:00]
Coby Smith:
Well early in the game it was a question of adults calling the shots.  It was a question of who had the authority to say what we would do.  Young Blacks were not satisfied with the go slow policy that the NAACP had accepted.

Thomas Faist:
When did this conflict became obvious?

Begin Segment  3 at 11:02:10
Coby Smith:
Well, it became obvious in probably about 1965 when the young militants across the south wanted and demanded direct action.  James Bevell is the first person to have recommended permitting Black youngsters to participate in the marches.


Ya’ see, if a Black man, an adult participated in the movement he would lose his job.  His family would go hungry.  Other things 

[0:11:00]
would happen.  So once they arrested all the committed ministers we had, we had nobody else to send except women and children.

If a child was arrested that was only a juvenile offense.  So consequently we felt they couldn’t do anything to us.  I mean how much bail can you ask for to get a kid out of jail.  So the strategy was at that time to fill up the jails.  James Bevell was the first to use it.  He’s around Memphis.

Thomas Faist:
Is he still here?

Coby Smith:
Yeah; he’s in and out.  He’s always here.  He has children here.  Memphis, believe it or not, is one of the central places for all the great figures in the civil rights movement.  If they haven’t been here they haven’t worked in the movement.

Thomas Faist:
What I’d like to know, for example, people like James Lawson, in 

[0:12:00]
the interviews I read with him, I never had a chance to talk to him personally, but in interviews I read with him he said, ‘Well Memphis was a place where desegregation went on very smoothly in the beginning of the 60s.’  


But he also said there should have been more direct confrontation between Black and White and he always regretted that there hasn’t been direct confrontation and he always was kind of reluctant to admit or to say well, what Maxine Smith, Vasco Smith, that Jessie Turner did in the Memphis community relations that was very good.  

He said there should have been much more direct action and he, as he tells the story, it was A.W. Willis and him among the adult persons who really went for more direct confrontation, non-violent direct confrontation.

Coby Smith:
That’s partially true.  He also was reluctant to turn loose the full 

[0:13:00]
strength of what we had during the sanitation workers’ strike.  But he incidentally was the person that I worked closest with in 1963 when we had our first major closing of the school, first time we closed the schools down.  He organized me personally and we were all excited about him.


He had done a stint in prison for refusing to go to the –

Thomas Faist:
[inaudible].

Coby Smith:
He was one of the few people that we knew like that.  So, I felt very close to Jim Lawson at that time.  After King’s assassination however, Jim Lawson and H. Ralph Jackson spoke out against moneys coming in to be spent for community organizing by our group.  So we had a major parting of the ways.

[0:14:00]
Here today, last year had a Black judicial dinner.  It’s the first time he spoke with me in years.  

Thomas Faist:
Was that dinner last year in Memphis?

Coby Smith:
Yes.

Thomas Faist:
What I’d like to know, I’d like to know a little bit more about this school boycott or something, closing down schools in 1963.

Coby Smith:
In those days because Black schools were so overcrowded and there was no integration at the high school level, beyond about the fourth grade there was no integration.


Black students were forced to go to school on what we call a split day or an extended day.  In other words, some of us would start classes at 7:00 in the morning and some of us would start classes at 8, at 9, at 10.  They’d have lunches at different time.  We’d go home at different times.


We forced the teachers in Black schools to handle a 

[0:15:00]
disproportionately large number of students as opposed to White teachers.  So a school like Manassas where I was a student had 3,300 students.  Most students had to walk or ride buses past schools like Hughes High School and Tech and Trezevent and all kinds of other schools in order to come to Manassas.  


The only reason we had to go the extra time in school was because there was no integration.  

Thomas Faist:
I was asking because I never heard about this school boycott in 1963.

Coby Smith:
So what we did was that we decided we would get together a lot of young people and force the action on the school board by closing down the schools.  So I led 2,000 students out of Menasus High 

[0:16:00]
School.  I was student government president elect.  Very popular very interested in getting some resolution to these issues.

Begin Segment 4 at 16:05:14

Boy, when that happened all hell broke loose.  The principal called me in and he said, ‘I can take away your student government office.  I’m gonna take away every award, every scholarship, everything you have coming and I will put you out of school.’  He never did and he and I are great friends today, but he was pressured by the board of education to bring order and discipline to the schools.

Thomas Faist:
But as far as I recall or I don’t know.  This school boycott wasn’t successful.

Coby Smith:
Yes, it was.  This school boycott was very successful.  However, the leadership group, when we got down to the board of education and we’d been down there for several days, the leadership group only wanted a select number of Blacks to go in to the meeting.  So 

[0:17:00]
Maxine Smith and a few others, A.W., a few others, were able to go in, Jessie Turner, and do the talking.


What they settled for we were not happy with.  

Thomas Faist:
What did they settle for?

Coby Smith:
Nothin’.  They settled for a cutting back of the split situation.  There were some minor concessions, but by and large they got personal gains out of it and not much for A whole lot of people.  We were very dissatisfied with that as students, as activists.
Thomas Faist:
It was different than in 1969.

Coby Smith:
Right.  You will remember also that John Kennedy was assassinated in 1963.  So many people’s zeal was up because Kennedy had opened up a hope that Whites would be with us in 

[0:18:00]
the movement, even though he didn’t do anything practical.  He represented a new opportunity, a new outlook.

Thomas Faist:
There are a lot of people I talked to just said well, Memphis was one of the most progressive places here in the south the beginning of the 60s.  And what they say is a reason for it, well, public facilities were desegregated without any violence.

Coby Smith:
Yes; without violence, but late.  Desegregation occurred in Memphis later than any other city.  

Thomas Faist:
What they also say is that while Blacks were willing to work with White people, but they talk about Blacks they mean the Black power structure of the NAACP.

Coby Smith:
Yes, they were.

Thomas Faist:
They were willing to work in a biracial committee with White politicians, White businessmen.  That’s what they say.  Well, that 

[0:19:00]
did not happen in any other city really.

Coby Smith:
Well, they are mistaken.  That did happen in other cities.  In the city of Memphis what actually occurred was that we had a – Memphis was one of the few cities in the south where people could vote for a long time.  That was the reason it was more progressive.  


But when you consider it as a whole you have to remember that Memphis at one time had been the publishing capital of the Black world.  W. B. DeBois published here, the predecessor to the [inaudible] magazine.  Handy published music here.  He was not a great musician.  He was a great publisher.  He didn’t originate the music, a lot of it, but he created it.  He merely wrote it down, published it and resold it.  This was long before [inaudible] records.


So at the turn of the century it was not New York City that was known for publishing.  It was Memphis, Tennessee.  Also, the 

[0:20:00]
wealthiest Black people in the country were from Memphis, Tennessee.

Thomas Faist:
But only until the Depression time.  After then –

Coby Smith:
Right; the Church family Bob Church and that kind of thing.  These people were accepted as the wealthiest Blacks in the world.  


In the 60s, Little Rock, everybody but Birmingham.  Now there were cities that were harder than Memphis.  Birmingham was – which had a church bombing at the same period, was perceived as a much more racist area.  Jackson, Mississippi with the murder of Medgar Evers was a much more racist place.  


So it’s not a compliment to Memphis that we say that it was the most progressive city in the south.  Certainly you can tell that Atlanta, Georgia did far more in a far shorter time than Memphis.

[0:21:00]

Thomas Faist:
What do you think are the reasons for it in Atlanta, Georgia?

Coby Smith:
Atlanta, Georgia has a more progressive group of Whites, who incidentally were migrating from the north.  We had the development of major industry in Atlanta, Georgia; Lockheed.  Some of the major establishments that were not concerned about maintaining segregation, but were concerned about making dollars.

Begin Segment 5 at 21:26:07

In addition to that, Atlanta, Georgia, which has far more schools than Memphis, Tennessee, you can just about look at the educational opportunities in an area and determine how progressive that they would be.  


Nashville, for example, which has fewer Blacks has more educational facilities and traditional facilities than –

Thomas Faist:
For Blacks? –

Coby Smith:
For Blacks.

Thomas Faist:
-- could participate.

Coby Smith:
Where you’ve had education for Blacks you’ve had more progress.  

[0:22:00]
The city of Memphis has not really been a major center for any of those things, even today.  You don’t find people rushing to Memphis, Tennessee for opportunity.


But what we had the other cities didn’t have.  We had the organized Black voter strength.

Thomas Faist:
That’s what I thought that, for example, the Shelby County Democratic Club I think it was, in its time it was the first club of Black politicians or the Black community where real political [inaudible]was organized.  
Coby Smith:
It’s 37 years old.  But let me tell you about that club.  That club was born out of the Crump Era when Black voters were used to maintain White political dominance.  So, where it sounds like a really progressive statement, it was not.  A Black policeman couldn’t 

[0:23:00]
arrest a White person.  A Black physician could not attend a White patient.  White lawyers by and large did not defend very many Black clients.

Thomas Faist:
But still I think for example H.T. Lockert was elected to the Shelby County Court, or  A. W. Willis was the first Black politician to give latitude to the state legislature in Tennessee since reconstruction.  These are some of those things which you could see, but I think you’re –

Coby Smith:
You could see them, but these people didn’t create the momentum themselves.  The Shelby County Democratic Club was organized at the behest of Whites who wanted to control Black votes.  They took those lawyers and promoted the idea among them.  So in a sense we take credit for something that we really didn’t do ourselves.

Thomas Faist:
Who were the White groups you think were instrumental –

[0:24:00]
Coby Smith:
Oh, there were lots of different people who were involved.  The Berson’s for example, Leo and what’s Miss Berson’s name?  He and his wife were very instrumental.  You had a momentum that started out from other places in the state.


For example, Governor Clement who had run for office in the 50s and was governor, was a liberalizing force.  Esther Skafoffer was a liberalizing force.  Tennessee was very important to national politics, unlike the other southern states.  We had liberals in office then.  Those liberals didn’t do much of what we think as liberal activity then.  


Ya’ see, to have a meeting with Blacks and Whites together was considered liberal.  But no major action.  We didn’t get the minimum wage before other areas of the country got it.  If you 

[0:25:00]
look at income today you’ll see that there is a disproportionately large number of impoverished minority people in this area.  

Thomas Faist:
It’s so much different; yeah --
Coby Smith:
So it’s hard to talk about how progressive it was when nothing was going on.  The city of Memphis remains a place that sends its best talent to Chicago and New York and California.  You can’t get a job here.  Anybody like me can’t get a job here.  Get a job doing what?

Thomas Faist:
What are you doing right now?  It’s just of the trade, but –

Coby Smith:
Right now I’m running for school board, which is interesting because it’s an uphill fight as well.  I run a small consultancy company.  Did you leave my whole profile with him or did you leave a copy with him?

Female:
I left the entire profile and picture said I’m going to get back.  Was that okay?

Coby Smith:
Well, I guess it is.  That’s the way it is.

Female:
He’s gotta take a copy of the picture and cut you off from that.
[0:26:00]
Coby Smith:
Is there a copy of our [inaudible] around?

Female:
Right there on the table it should be.

Coby Smith:
They’ll always tell me what should be.

Female:
Okay; [inaudible]
Female:
I took them out [inaudible]
Coby Smith:
[inaudible]
Female:
No.

Coby Smith:
Just get one.
Female:
There’s one; okay.  

Thomas Faist:
Okay; thanks a lot.  

Coby Smith:
But  in those days the first Black to do anything was a significant person.  If you were selected as the one to break the racial barriers you were important.  

Begin Segment 6 at 26:49:12
Thomas Faist:
Just going a little bit further in the 60s, when did you become 

[0:27:00]
involved with SNCC people?

Coby Smith:
1966.

Thomas Faist:
Sure you did not meet them here in Memphis, did you?

Coby Smith:
As a matter of fact I did.  In 1966, when we had the Meredith march in Mississippi, I first met Stokie Carmichael and a number of other people who were significant people in the movement.  You must remember that Marion Barry, the present mayor of Washington was one of the founders of SNCC.
Thomas Faist:
But also for example, James Lawson, too, wasn’t he?

Coby Smith:
Right.  

Thomas Faist:
Or were they consultants or I don’t know?

Coby Smith:
No; they weren’t consultants.  They were student activists.  They were going to Lemoyne College and got involved in the movement and stayed involved in it.  

Thomas Faist:
To me, a lot of time it seems, well there is only this name Marion 

[0:28:00]
Barry associated with Black student protest the beginning of the 60s here in Memphis.  It’s always mentioned, well, he was a graduate from Owen College, but he went to Nashville and came back from Nashville to organize the sit in.  So it always seemed to me well, they needed to have another person student coming in from another city to organize the sit ins, but I don’t think that’s true.

Coby Smith:
We didn’t have many sit ins here.  The first of the sit-ins took place in Nashville, Lynchburg, Virginia and Nashville, North Carolina.  The major activity did not start out in Memphis, Tennessee.  In Nashville, which is where we had in those days almost all of the Black students who went to college went to school at Tennessee State, the Black public facility.  

[0:29:00]
Lemoyne was a prestigious private college.

Thomas Faist:
So you think that’s one of the reasons why there weren’t many sit ins here in Memphis?

Coby Smith:
That’s right.  We didn’t have the mass of students to create that kind of activist activity here. And we also had a strong NAACP here.  So usually the NAACP involved itself in cases of police brutality, which were not small cases.  

We’d have a shooting every week, a murder every few weeks.  The police would kill somebody and nobody would ever say anything about it or they’d beat some kid within an inch of his life for nothin’.  No one would say anything about it.


So the lawyers that we had here, A.W. Willis and Russell Sugarmon were extremely important and Lockert and some of these other men because they were the ones who went into court to represent us when things were bad.  

[0:30:00]
As for their actual militant and other things, a lot of that is not substantiated by fact.  What they did many times was simply to represent people in a court of law.  
Thomas Faist: 
I think that was the role of the NAACP all over the country, wasn’t it?
Coby Smith:
Well, you must remember at that time there were really two NAACPs.  The name now could not be used for the legal defense fund, but a lot of the activity was actually developed under the oneness of the legal defense fund.  

Once you made your complaint all you had were NAACP people to hear the story, but the legal action was carried out by the legal defense fund from which A. W. Willis and Ben Hooks and Russell Sugarman received salaries.  Part-time job.

Thomas Faist:
Well, if I draw the conclusion so that at Lemoyne the student 

[0:31:00]
population really hasn’t changed much in its activity during the 60s and 70s?

Coby Smith:
Well it has changed considerably.  Since the time of the sit ins at Lemoyne itself, we’ve seen a real downturn in student activity at Lemoyne.  Black studies and relevant programs, Black history programs were included in the curriculum.  We wanted to see a developmental curriculum that would help Black youngsters included in the so-called liberal arts program that they had.  


You must remember during that time Southwestern reorganized its curriculum.

Thomas Faist:
But they never had Black studies, did they?

Coby Smith:
No; but every major education institution was trying to modernize its approach to education.  The Black schools were very resistant to this because Black schools get their money from White sources.  

[0:32:00]
So you have a very conservative orientation at Lemoyne College and other institutions that were afraid that they would lose their donor base if they became too radical.  

Begin Segment 7 at 32:14:16
Thomas Faist:
Just like to move back to the SNCC era when you said you met people like Stokie Carmichael on the 1966 Meredith march down in Mississippi –

Coby Smith:
Well actually I met him here in Memphis, at the center here at Memphis church as we prepared to go.  When I heard him he was exciting me.  It was different than listening to King because they didn’t speak with so much insistence on what would happen in the future.


Ya’ know Martin King was great about talking about, ‘One day in America the sons of’ –

Thomas Faist:
Former slave owners and –

[0:33:00]
Coby Smith:
Right; that kind of thing.  That’s where he was, but we were more interested because most of us had already done the job of integrating.  We were more interested in what was gonna happen for us.  We were more interested in challenging discrimination immediately.

Thomas Faist:
What kind of discrimination immediately?

Coby Smith:
Oh, all kinds.

Thomas Faist:
Oh, you mean political, economic –

Coby Smith:
Political, economic.  See, we didn’t see the need.  We were the first generation who actually saw ourselves compete with Whites.  See, and I’d been going to Southwestern.  Hell, I knew by that time that there was nobody superior to me, which was unheard of in the 50s or in the early 60s.  You couldn’t walk up and say that no White is superior to me.  People would laugh you out of here. 

[0:34:00]
Black people would laugh harder than anybody else.  Say, ‘Are you crazy?’

But when we started to talk to ourselves and listen and see what others was saying, there was a level of excitement that could not be controlled.

Thomas Faist:
But what was the actual program of SNCC or of these people?

Coby Smith:
The program then was to – well the cry of Black power finally hit the streets and I was involved in some of the formation of it.  We sat around in our groups.  We had done as much of the desegregation work that we could do, but we still recognized that desegregation did not hold enough answers for Black people.  


We became very disenchanted with the kind of stuff that all you had to do was be around White people in order to have your rights.  See, we felt that it was possible to set our own course and talk 

[0:35:00]
about our own agenda and develop our own community.  We were accustomed to at that time in the segregated world; we were accustomed to seeing Blacks who had accomplished a lot.  We had doctors and lawyers, too.  


So we weren’t really just so anxious to turn everything over to Whites or just to be involved in integrated situations.  We really wanted to do something for our communities.  We did not see that opportunity once Blacks started becoming elected to office or running for office.  We didn’t see the direction that moderates were telling us to go in as being so significant.


When you discuss a thing like legal participation you discuss it in its ultimate state.  You don’t discuss it in terms of the gradualism involved.  So we thought that there should be a vice president or 

[0:36:00]
members of Congress and everything else.  We didn’t have one then.  

Thomas Faist:
So your main purpose or the main method was I’m gonna be organizer.

Coby Smith;
That’s all we had.

Thomas Smith:
And how did this practically materialize in Memphis?  Or maybe how did it practically materialize in other cities because here in Memphis you started organizing 1966-67 as you said before.

Coby Smith:
Well in 1966 I returned to Memphis.  I’d already been way in the movement.  When I returned I came here to test out the concept of the Black united front, which is something SNCC had been working on for quite awhile.  


In fact, Stokie Carmichael was due to go to Washington, D.C. and open up our real test model for it because of the population of the District of Columbia, the demographics of that population being 

[0:37:00]
overwhelmingly Black.


The 60s were the times when we first recognized that a tremendous number of the large urban cities and some southern cities had a Black majority.  No one would ever admit this before.  Washington D.C. 80 percent Black.  Sneaked up on everybody.  


No one ever recognized it.  We didn’t recognize it in Washington D.C. because it was the District of Columbia.  It wasn’t a city that had its own anything.  The mayor was not elected in those days.  The mayor was appointed by Congress.  You could not see where voter strength was.  It just wasn’t the same.  The politics of the entire country started to change.  We recognized very quickly where we had to make in roads.  

[0:38:00]
Thomas Faist:
What did it mean this concept of a Black united front?  You said well, Stokie Carmichael tried it in Washington.

Coby Smith:
Yeah; we knew that there were a lot of Black organizations that had existed for some time.  We felt that it was necessary to get all of those organizations to update their philosophy and incorporate what we considered to be the Black agenda. 


In reality it was an agenda for Black development, political, economic and social, but we wanted to see occur.  
Begin Segment 8 at 38:35:13 
Thomas Faist:
Did this have to do with that – I read about this Black organizing project here in Memphis.  Was this kind of when you tried –

Coby Smith:
That was a proposal that we wrote.  I wrote it along with two of the guys that you’re talking about now, Charles Cabbage and John Smith and that kind of guy.  We wrote the first proposal based on 

[0:39:00]
the Police Athletic Association project, which had instead of the policeman going in and beating all of the Black youngsters on the head, they said, ‘You guys come out here and provide a service and get to know people and quit killing us.  Cut back on the police brutality.’


Much of the organizing that we did was in protest to the kind of behavior that you would not subject an animal to; beatings, harassments, bombings, burning out.  That was the order of the day for people who thought that they were activists.

Thomas Faist:
So the main target of this now was the police or police relations to the Black community and brutality.

Coby Smith:
Right; when we started out with that project that was our concern.  Remember that we had no, at that time, we were trying to elect our 

[0:40:00]
first city councilman.  In 1966 A.W. ran for mayor.  We were all behind it.  We wanted to have a Black mayor.  We didn’t have a runoff in those days like we have now.  So a Black could win.  All we needed was two Whites in the race and a Black could win.

Thomas Faist:
But as far as I recall the Black community was very split.  Some supported Ingram and some supported Willis.

Coby Smith:
Well very much like what is occurring now with the mayor’s race.  What we had was A.W. pulling out of the race.  We don’t know how it would have gone down.  Many of us who were doing the political work felt that A.W. could have won.  Actually [inaudible]probably could have won.

Thomas Faist:
Just one question going back a little bit.  So the group, was it already called the invaders or was it still SNCC group?

[0:41:00]
Coby Smith:
In 1966 the group became known as the invaders.  

Thomas Faist:
There was a base here in north Memphis and one in south Memphis.

Coby Smith:
Right.  Well we had different groups all over town here.  One in Orange Mound, one in Binghampton.  All you have to do was come to the meetings and kids would start wearin’ their little jackets, their little blue jean jackets with the invaders on the back and that kind of thing.


A lot of the people who came picked up the flavor of the Black Panther party.  The Black Panther party was very popular.

Thomas Faist:
But the invaders was not a part of the Black Panther party.

[0:42:00]
Coby Smith:
No; but the invaders ended up I guess closing down the organization and becoming the Black Panther party in Memphis.  It was interesting.  I was away at that time.

Thomas Faist:
When was that?  Still was it 1969 or something?

Coby Smith:
Yes.  So around 1969 things began to change considerably.  The invaders had had several tough scrapes.  We had men who were in jail.  During the time of the sanitation workers’ strike we had 50 people in jail.

Thomas Faist:
Just let me repeat it.  The main activities of the invaders in 1966-67 was just organizing groups.

Coby Smith:
Organizing groups, getting people to work in their own community, to end crime, to eliminate drugs, to develop social 

[0:43:00]
service programs that reached and effected people.  A lot of our program was social welfare in orientation.  

The invaders, for example, got the first of the Ford’s to run for office; the famous Ford family.

Thomas Faist:
Who was that?

Coby Smith:
Harold; got Harold to run for the seat that A.W. had.  

Thomas Faist:
How was Harold associated with the invaders?  Not at al –

Coby Smith;
Not at all; not at all.  Harold’s father was a businessman in the community and had been active in civil rights activities for some time, but Harold and John played no major role.  James who’s 34 now had been active in certain elements of the movement, but not 

[0:44:00]
in any of the desegregation activities.  Not in any of the real tough things that many of us had been in.  They were always off at school or somethin’, but nobody knew ‘em.

Thomas Faist:
Excuse me?  Nobody?

Coby Smith:
Nobody.  

Begin Segment 9 at 44:18:10
Thomas Faist:
But their father was active in the –

Coby Smith:
Right.  Their father and his father.  Their father once told the school system, the county school system, ‘Ya’ know we used to have a time when Black youngsters went to school on the split year.  


In the fall you went to school until the cotton was ready to be picked.  Then they’d close school down.  You go pick the cotton.  Then you go to school in the winter until cotton choppin’ time 

[0:45:00]
came.  Then they’d go out and tend the fields, close school down.  Then you’d go back to school.
Thomas Faist:
It wasn’t split [inaudible].

Coby Smith:
Oh, that was about in the 50s in Shelby County.  Now in the other counties that weren’t around the big city, it’s gone on until recently  real, the last ten years.  

Thomas Faist:
I just wanted to go back to the invaders.  you had a reputation, invaders as a group and especially Charles Cabbage, John Smith and you as being very militant, but not only referred to very militant, but also putting in practice violence.  That was the reputation you got from the press like, commercial appeal in the 

[0:46:00]
press.  I recall reading in some of the interviews that one incident during the sanitation workers’ strike there was a so-called young radical, young Black radical who said – 

I cannot say this quotation by words, but the content was well, we have to do some real fighting now and if you want to fight the police you’ve got to have some guns and there are some men out there who want to do it or who will do it.  That was the only written statement I could find about the role of the invaders on the sanitation workers’ strike.


From what I guess from other information I got the impression that the Black ministers used the invaders.

Coby Smith:
Yes; definitely.  A lot of the quotes about violence came from the ministers and the traditional groups, the NAACP which would 
[0:47:00]
always be used to tell people to either deal with us or you’ll have to deal with those young militants who want to be violent.


But violence was never perpetrated by any of the Black groups in the country, including the Panthers.  You can look at the history of the entire militant movement and what you find is people being arrested for conspiracy and other things, but not actual violence.

What we were interested in and what we propagated in those days was the concept of self-defense.  At that time the police could come into your community, the Klan could come into your community, anybody White could come into the community and shoot everybody up if they wanted to and we had nobody to defend against that.


Well, down in Canton, Mississippi in the movement years, in the Meredith March on Mississippi in ’66, which is when most people 

[0:48:00]
heard Black power first articulated, the federal marshals permitted the Klan and probably the highway patrol to overrun our camp.  They beat the women and children with big sticks and just tore up our camp site.  First one thing and another.


Many of the young people, especially from the north were very upset about that kind of sequence.  So in Lawrence County, Alabama and in Sunflower County, Mississippi a group of Blacks get together and these were men who had been in the military who had started to arm themselves and let it be known that we would have a concept of self-protection exist.  So that was the initial concept; self-protection.

Thomas Faist:
How did that materialize here in Memphis?  I’m sure you tried to apply that or I’m sure you had arms and guns and –

[0:49:00]
Coby Smith:
Oh yeah; we had arms and guns.  Not many.  Not enough to fight anybody.  We had some.

Thomas Faist:
Just to the sanitation workers’ strike again –

Coby Smith:
Well during the strike, for example, we wanted to prevent any trucks from rolling.  The statement we would use that always got us in trouble was, ‘By any means necessary.’  

Thomas Faist:
But how would you judge a statement like Lawson had said?  They were rhetorically very militant, but not actually.

Coby Smith:
Lawson is a minister.  Lawson has been non-violent all his life in 

[0:50:00]
the true sense of the word.  Very many of the people that we had were young and inexperienced and did not know how far we would have to go if we actually looked at armed insurrection.  Many of them, it’s true, were only militant in rhetoric.  

Begin Segment 10 at 50:24:23

But what Lawson had the opportunity not to have to realize because he had tremendous education.  He’s also a minister.  Was the real life experience of men like Charles Cabbage and John Smith who did not get to sit down in the nice little cocktail sits and the other things.  So people meant what they said.  There’s no question about it.


You have to remember that a policeman can walk up to you and 

[0:51:00]
just start beatin’ you and could arrest you without an explanation.  So when we were talking about the self-defense concept many people interpreted that as aggressive violence.  You couldn’t strike a White back.  If a White man was beatin’ you to death you had to stand there and take it under the old system.


When I was a kid ridin’ the bus, as a little kid I saw the bus driver beat a man’s head to a bloody pulp.  A big man.  I asked my mama, I said, ‘Why didn’t he hit him back?’  She said, ‘You can’t hit a White man back.’  You couldn’t hit a White man back at all, you couldn’t look at him in the face.


To sit here and look eyeball to eyeball the way we are was against the law.  Any White man.  He could be on a crutch and about to die.  He still could be an authority over you and could bring any violence he wanted to and you could never by right of law defend yourself.

[0:52:00]
So that the thought of self-defense was a provocative thought to most Whites.  Consider that a slave could lift up his arm and hit you back.  Now remember that the population distribution in the south was even more overwhelmingly Black than it is today.
Thomas Faist:
Yeah; the Black belt.

Coby Smith:
One hundred years ago the Black population in the south was a four to one majority.  Our decline has resulted from the outward migration of Blacks and the inward migration of Whites over a 100 year period so that one could not say he’s incorrect, but certainly he was never one that had to go to jail for what our young people had to go to jail for.  It was not simply rhetoric that was being used.


If I wanted to really tie this into most successfully I’d probably 

[0:53:00]
have to go back to the episode involving Patti Hearst where Blacks were forced to either have to accept You know Marshall          ,don’t you?.  He was a revolutionary, man.  He was a guy who kidnapped a wealthy man’s daughter.  


The whole description of that episode was that she was raped and everything else and all those things that we in the movement had not even considered doing, but the images were you even do one or the other.


So if you ever wanted to sit down and dialogue, they’d say well, you’re non-violent, but if you stood up and took a chance you became depicted as a violent person.


Remember that J. Edgar Hoover saw Martin King as a violent person who could disrupt and agitate Blacks to violence.  Some of 

[0:54:00]
the concern that people have arose from the fact that the first race riot in this country in modern times occurred in 1963; the first race riot.


Those race riots created a paranoia in White people’s minds.  Said either you are violent or you’re not.  Would you participate in a race riot?  That was the common kind of question.  Well, hell, anybody who’s seen a race riot knows what one is and you don’t make the choice based on would you participate in that because as soon as the people described it as a riot they sent in the troops and the police and if you happened to get shot it didn’t make any difference.  If you happened to be standing in the way of a billy stick.


So that much of the illusion about violence and non-violence has to do with how much violence the authorities brought on us.  

Thomas Faist:
There’s in Memphis for example, there’s always this talk about the mini-riot which occurred on the March 23, 1968 when Martin 

[0:55:00]
Luther King was in town.  Well, all the people I talk to blames the invaders for doing it, but basically that’s nonsense because a mini-riot cannot be planned.  That’s my opinion.

Coby Smith:
Here’s what happened.  At that time we had so many people in jail.  So I ordered the invaders off the streets.  Actually ordered them off the streets.  We still had people down there, but we knew we were gonna get the blame.

Jim Lawson and H. Ralph Jackson came to a meeting the night before the riots and told us that they had received a bullet in the mail threatening their lives and told people that it came from us.  So that the whole idea was perpetrated in part by Lawson and Jackson and some of these other so-called leaders.  Billy Kyles, always runnin’ around talkin’ about how we were gonna destroy everything and create a riot. 
[0:56:00]
But their reason for doing it was because they wanted to draw a distinction between themselves as non-violent people and those of us who were known as militants.  We got along very well with Martin King.  We didn’t get along very well with their antics.  

A.W. Willis went out and told people the year before the riot in ’66 that we were responsible for burning down houses that he owned, that his mortgage company owned.  Now I don’t know if they were just profit taking or not on the side.  Have you ever heard of Jewish lightning?  Oh, that’s when you burn your own stuff for insurance purposes.

Thomas Fait:
Oh, okay; Jewish lightning.  Yeah; now I’ve got it.

Coby Smith;
When you’re smart enough to get the best benefit out of burning something down.  We always got the blame, but remember that we were youngsters.  I was 20 years old.  Lots of other guys were 

[0:57:00]
younger than I was. 
Begin Segment 11 at 57:00:17
 But 20.  They didn’t want us to sit down and dialogue.  So when the sanitation workers’ strike broke out we said to them, ‘Let’s continue the strategy of using young people to disrupt this process.  Let’s lay bodies down in front of the sanitation depot and prevent the trucks from rolling.’

Thomas Faist;
It wasn’t that[inaudible]didn’t you do it?

Coby Smith:
No; they didn’t permit it.  They didn’t permit it.  Jim Lawson and all those people you’re talkin’ about felt that it would be too confrontationalist.  So, when you say militants, it’s not that we wanted to do that damn much, but they wanted to do so little.  It didn’t make sense to us that a union could have a strike and not put up pickets to stop trucks from rollin’.  

[0:58:00]
Thomas Faist:
As far as you remember it, wasn’t there – I don’t know the name – Evan Blackburn, the young minister, Black minister who tried it.  I don’t know.  [Audio stops and starts]


I was just asking about the strategy of disrupting with bodies lying in front of –

Coby Smith:
You were asking about Reverend Blackburn.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; I was just asking about Reverend Blackburn, if he hadn’t – I don’t know if –

Coby Smith:
Oh, I know who you’re talking about.  Bald headed fellow with First Baptist Beale Street.
Thomas Faist:
I don’t know.  I only heard his name.  I don’t know how he looks.  I think he was organizing some young, Black people, but not from the invaders.  I don’t know.

Coby Smith:
No; there were plenty of people involved, but see the big problem was that they did not want to permit the invaders to have a seat on the strategy committee.  

[0:59:00]
Thomas Faist:
But you were on the strategy committee in the beginning weren’t you?

Coby Smith:
Right.

Thomas Faist;
How did it end?  Why did you leave or were you kind of pushed out?

Coby Smith;
Pushed out; isolated out of it.  The members of the union wanted us, but the traditional leaders felt that they had a slippage in power, unlike today when I’m so soft spoken, I was a firey orator, get people excited, man.  They’d be ready to charge.  I think many of them felt threatened by this.  Lawson felt threatened by it.  A guy that does not believe in violence can’t hardly get out there and make people exacerbate the energy or centralize or focus their energy.

We had the things to say and the charisma to do it and the national mood for Black people was such that it was popular.  Now the 

[1:00:00]
national mood for Black people is to kind of go along, grumble about Reagan, but go along.  A different kind of people [inaudible]time.


Can you imagine people who had gotten their first whiff of freedom?  

Thomas Faist:
No.
Coby Smith:
Their first taste of it.  Who have fought 400 years, 300 years and then told how inferior and everything else they were, and all of a sudden then they have to breathe in a sense of greatness that they had never been permitted to think about before.  So you had guys who, if you remember the slogan for the sanitation workers’ strike, ‘I am a man.’


Do you know why that was an important slogan?  

Thomas Faist:
Well I can imagine.  It was the slogan which said that well, we have some rights and we want to exercise those rights.  For me 

[1:01:00]
that’s one of the things which stands behind the slogan.

Coby Smith;
When I was a kid one of the most hated words in the vocabulary worse than any other profane or four letter word was man.  Only street level Black men called each other man. Hey, man.  You hear it now, don’t you?

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; sure.

Coby Smith:
Say man.  Well when I was a kid your parents would beat you if you said that.

Thomas Faist:
Why?

Coby Smith:
Because you weren’t a man.  You were a boy and if you ever got to say a man around White people you could get in big trouble.  They didn’t want you to think of yourself as a man because you might slip up and say it at the wrong time.


A lot of people think that’s s—if you have to explain it to somebody today they wouldn’t understand it.  They would not believe it, but –

Thomas Faist:
Well, I do.  

[1:02:00]

[Audio stops and starts]


Thomas Faist:
I wonder, for example, when I read one of the interviews people made with H. Ralph Jackson after the sanitation workers’ strike.  He also said that probably would side with the invaders rhetorically.

Coby Smith:
Yeah.  Everybody wanted to steal our stuff, we sounded good.

Thomas Faist:
What happened to the invaders after the sanitation workers’ strike?  I know that the Black Panther party in Memphis was founded in 1969-1970, but you were out of town at that time.
[1:03:00]
Coby Smith:
Right after the assassination almost all our people got arrested.  We had about 30 people who stayed in jail – [Audio stops and starts]

Begin Segment 12 at 1:03:02:19 (tape 2 begins)
Thomas Faist:
You just said that after the assassination people like Charles Cabbage and [inaudible]Nelson were arrested.  Under what charges?

Coby Smith:
Oh, everything from burglary to bad checks, violations of the man act.  They accused the guys of everything.  White slave trade things; everything.  Just every conceivable offense.  The media started to paint a picture of the invaders that we were some kind of kooks and wild, insane murderers and rapists who were out creating crime.


You will recall that the era of the 1970s, ’69 to ’70 was full of an 

[1:04:00]
anti-crime movement in this country by government.  Nixon and Agnew, anti-crime.  Turned out they were really the crime people, huh?


But the rhetoric was all let’s do something to stop these riots.  Let’s send all the Black militants to jail.  During that time we were basically on the run.  In Memphis we had in the invaders, one weekend I think three of us were either shot, ambushed or cut, including me.  That was just the way it went.


They kept lining it up so that we’d be the fall guy.  The police were at the heart of the conspiracy and just a few years ago, two years ago I found out that one young lady told me that, very well known 

[1:05:00]
girl whose father is a multimillionaire told me that one of the most significant Black leaders had told her that I had put out contracts for her father to be killed and for other Black leaders to be killed.


So we had a paranoia develop in the Black community about all the Black militants.  Parents wouldn’t let their daughters date, didn’t go out.  It’ll get ya’ killed.


They created an image which said that all of us who were militants were powerful people.  They didn’t say we were students in the movement and that we were achieving and doing other things.  They said, well all those Black militants got a gun; kill ‘em on site.

Thomas Faist:
Is there any evidence?  It’s very hard to get evidence, from what you’re saying it sounds reasonable to me and I believe it for 

[1:06:00]
example, if I want to document something like that, do you have some --?

Coby Smith:
Well there was a book published just a few years ago.  There’s a law suit involving it now, which identifies some of the people you’ve mentioned as being FBI informants.  That book was written on information released by the federal government during their Freedom of Information Act, which you will recall.

Thomas Faist:
What is the title of the book?

Coby Smith:
What’s the name of that book?

Female:
I don’t know.

Coby Smith:
I’ve forgotten the name of the darn book now, but there are several that start to indicate that this was occurring starting from a book written by – darn, can’t even remember his name now.  Starting with a book called The King Nobody Knew.  The King God didn’t 

[1:07:00]
know to this latter piece that described the plots and schemes that not only the FBI, the local police establishments across the country used to get militants out of the way.


You may recall for example, you probably know today that H. Ralph Jackson, or H. Ralph Brown is still in jail and has now become Muslim.  Well that man became a fugitive because he was in a house that Mississippi authorities broke into and accused him of fornication.  He was there consulting a consenting adult female.  Coincidentally is Black and charged with fornication.  It’s something that we all take for granted.

Begin Segment 13 at 1:07:50:09

Shortly after that when he was leaving Mississippi and riding in an 

[1:08:00]
airplane going to New Orleans they found a pistol in his handbag underneath the plane.  It wasn’t in his lap.  They charged him with carrying a concealed pistol and violation of a federal law.  He became a fugitive and for many years was sought by police.

Turned up in New York City where he and group of young men attempted to raid a well known established Mafia drug center.  He’s now serving a term for armed robbery.  


Fred Hampton was savagely killed in Chicago.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; I know about that –

Coby Smith:
Ralph [inaudible]stone, one of the nicest, most genuine, peace lovin’ people I’ve ever known, was killed in a bomb explosion on a 

[1:09:00]
highway in Maryland.  All kinds of things were happening.  The evidence for some of it exist in courts all over the country.  However we had nobody to plead our case.  Guys like [inaudible]were the ones who were saying that this is wrong, it’s horrendous, you can’t continue to black ball these men and sentenced them to prison without fair trials and first one thing and another, but there is some evidence.

Thomas Faist:
For here in Memphis for example?

Coby Smith:
Well, here in Memphis – oh gosh.  I just hesitate to use people’s names, but I came to Memphis and I spoke with two of the people that we have already mentioned.  In 24 hours there was a still watch on me.  The only other people who knew I was in town were my folks and my family.  Within 24 hours there was a still watch.  One down on that end of the street and one here in the first apartment.

[1:10:00]
The way I found out about it is one of the policeman who was assigned to follow me had grown up with me and raised me.  His brother and I have the same name almost and we’ve been friends all our lives.

Thomas Faist:
When did you come back to Memphis?

Coby Smith:
In 1966.

Thomas Faist:
I just wanted to know about were there some internal conflicts in the invaders?

Coby Smith:
All the time.  We had a lot of internal conflicts.  We had people who wanted to sound more like the Black Panthers.  Some of them had heard of West Coast leaders like Ron Corinda and other people and there were factions.  Some were African nationalists.  Some were responsive to other groups.  The [inaudible]developed out of that era.  Lot of different styles of leadership started to develop.

[1:11:00]
Some of the support for those groups, almost like the support for a political race like this where you see all these people runnin’.  If you ask where they get their money and what their support base is you start finding out there’s some awful strange people backing them who have nothing to do with either the district or with improving say education.  That was the same thing that happened then.


It’s not new.  It’s not isolated.  Many of the groups have their own little agendas, but for the most part one must recall that I, for example, had watching me all the time two undercover men.  One is still on the police force, a friend of mine here now.  Don Pigford is his name.  He was always a very nice person, but he worked for the police.


He saved us incidentally from a lot of harassment and a lot of abuse because he’d always speak up for the innocents and youngsters that we had involved in things or that we were accused of being involved of things.

[1:12:00]
In 1966, one of our groups was involved in a street patrol of Beale Street.  There was an undercover man in their midst and somehow the other people reacted poorly and the undercover man was shot and killed.  Several men are still in prison In regard to that episode.  

But it wasn’t a vicious killing.  They simply got into a scuffle, killed the man and they tried to dump his body in the river and they were so scared they couldn’t hardly do that.  

Begin Segment 14 at 1:12:40:27

But we always had so many people in trouble at one time or another in jail it was hard to maintain actual discipline over the group.  

Thomas Faist:
How did you end up with the group?

Coby Smith:
How did I end up with the group?

[1:13:00]
Thomas Faist:
Yeah.  I just remember when Ray Hill told me about it that there was some conflict and finally you got out of the group or -- I didn’t recall – he didn’t tell me a lot about it really –

Coby Smith:
I left Memphis to go and work and organize in other parts of the country.  King’s assassination escalated the movement.  It didn’t cut it off immediately.  It escalated the movement.


So I became involved in many more programs of national scope rather than local kind of efforts.  I moved away to St. Louis first and then to New York and started to operate in conjunction with groups all over the world; Caribbean and South America and everywhere else.  

[1:14:00]
In my absence, the group had very little reason, very little guidance other than what people who could cool out of jail at one particular time or another. I was the only one who didn’t spend time in jail.  I’m also one of the few who finished school in a timely situation.


We did not have within the group and were not attracting to the group new numbers of people who could readily become involved in street organizing.  In addition to that, one must recall this.  The federal government spent a huge amount of money after the King assassination getting people to reject the concept of Black power and to buy into the concept of green power.  Have you ever heard of the slogan green power?

Thomas Faist:
No.

Coby Smith:
No Black power; give me green power.

Thomas Faist:
Oh sure; yeah; I guess what it is.  Money, huh?

Coby Smith:
Money.

Thomas Faist:
Sure.

Coby Smith:
Money.

Thomas Faist:
When you came back to Memphis afterwards after the King 

[1:15:00]
assassination, what was the situation like, Black Panther groups or Black powers?

Coby Smith:
The Black Panthers were in total disarray.  By 1965, when did Patti Hearst get kidnapped?

Female:
Oh, I don’t remember the dates on that.  with the Symbionese Liberation Army?

Coby Smith:
In large part the Symbionese Liberation Army was the end of the radical movement.

Female:
Yeah; I think that must have been the last
Thomas Faist:
The Black liberation army or [inaudible]?

Coby Smith:
Symbionese Liberation Army.  

Female:
SLA.

Coby Smith:
Marked the end of the radical revolutionary Black movement because many people felt that they either had to go out and do acts 

[1:16:00]
of violence or they had to sit down and be quiet and get a job.

Thomas Faist:
Who was instrumental in putting up the Black Panther party in 1969 or 1970?  Were those the same people who –
Coby Smith:
Same people; the same people who had been in the invaders transitioned to the Panthers so that they could have a national network.  It was a reasonable transition.  In other words, in order to stay in the flow of information, individuals joined the Black Panther party.


SNCC was de-funded after 1967 really.  What I mean by de-funded is that the liberal White movement, contributors to the Black movement, started withholding their funds.  So we had no money.  Carmichael was forced off to Africa to work as a Pan-
[1:17:00]
Africanist.  He was criticized by many of those West Coast groups in the Black Panthers.  J. Edgar Hoover had a program of trying to denounce all significant Black leadership at all levels.


The members of SCLC all started to profit take off Martin King and his reputation.  Consequently you see Andy Young as the mayor of Atlanta after having been Congressman.  You see [inaudible] Roys and others go onto Congress.  


We saw the development of Black involvement in local politics to the point that we got a lot of mayors elected and got a lot of Congressmen elected.  So the Black community started to push its energy into the fulfillment of affirmative action promises, which we thought would continue.

Begin Segment 15 at 1:18:05:09
Thomas Faist:
But it did not in your opinion?

[1:18:00]
Coby Smith:
Well, when the money ran out.  When the country started to reach a point where after the – actually during the Vietnam War, the country expended so much of its resources on that debacle until there was simply – our economy just faltered, collapsed.  When that happened the movement really started to die.


All of our leaders who had been able to make personal gains are still visible.  All the ones who were strictly in it for the progress of people got nothing and you dno’t know anything about them.  The newspapers won’t even carry a story now on Black progress.  I looked at a newspaper article this morning.  That was half the front page.  If you look at it you’ll see.

[1:19:00]
On the front page you have the new Miss America; a picture of her.  You also have a big picture of a cotton field.  Under that little headline it says, ‘It’s cotton time again.’  Then on the very top they’ve got a picture of the guy who integrated Southwestern with me  in 1964 who’s a physician talking about the attitudes that have not changed.

Female:
Is this what you’re talkin’ about?

Coby Smith:
Yeah; just look at that.

Thomas Faist:
Okay; thanks a lot.

Coby Smith:
Where’s the picture of Lorenzo?

Female;
[inaudible]
Coby Smith:
Oh, today’s paper has a picture of Lorenzo, but you see, across the headlines they’re talking about what has happened to Black people.  Here is the new Miss America.  Here’s the same concept in today’s paper.  This guy went to Southwestern.  We’d gone to high school together.

[1:20:00]
Now, why would these three articles exist together on the front page?  And here’s another one; the same tone.  This is a joke that closely resembles what connections people who are not Black would make of these stories.  


So we have the same refusal to change attitudes.  I’ve never seen them put just a cotton thing in the paper like this on the front page.  Have you?

Thomas Faist:
No; never.

Coby Smith:
With this kind of situation going on, why does this rate a huge front page picture?  
[1:21:00]
Thomas Faist:
But that’s always here in The Commercial Appeal.  This is no exception we always see.
Coby Smith:
So the racism that you get that way dictates the terms.  We cannot get past that kind of situation and they used to do that to us in the old days, too.  Integration; show the cotton patch.  This is where they come from and that’s the whole concept that people run at us.  This is why you can’t expect us to do anything.  All we can be connected with is cotton.

Thomas Faist:
Cotton or later on, social welfare.

Coby Smith:
Right; same thing.  Anybody who knows about cotton knows about social welfare because in America anything you can paint black you can kill.  Food stamps, ADC, Aid to Dependent Children.  Most of us started to fight for  some of those programs.  

[1:22:00]
Over those years, over the intervening years I have developed as a professional and done things that were race related, but all of a sudden organizations come in and spend money to do it now.  


In Memphis, Leadership Memphis had no problem about bringing Dr. Charles King in here to do his race relations work.  They have a problem about using somebody local to bring out real problems and to suggest real solutions that affect us here.

Thomas Faist:
You see is this guy right now in Memphis, Charles King?

Coby Smith:
He’s based in Atlanta, but they bring him here.  They pay him a huge sum of money.  The Whites and the so-called leadership group invite a few Black people to train into their way of thinking.  You see them all working for the banks, all the three-piece suit 

[1:23:00]
brothers who are so proper and so prim and have nothing to contribute.  

Thomas Faist:
But what happened to all those people like John Smith and Charles Cabbage?  For example, I tried a couple of times to call Charles Cabbage and I talked to him on the phone, but he was never there when I came for an interview so I –

Coby Smith:
Well he’s in jail a lot.  He just got out of jail not long ago.  I helped get him out of jail.  They had him in for a bad check and other things, years old.  There’s no reason for them to arrest him and put him in jail for that again, but every chance they get they send him back to jail.

Begin Segment 16 at 1:23:35:29

John Smith is working in graduate school over at Memphis State.  John saw so many people pass him up in terms of progress in their personal lives that they made until he felt cheated out of life.  

[1:24:00]
There are no rewards in this Black thing.  


Talking about racial progress.  There’s no reward.  No Black person gets a reward for doing what you are doing.

Thomas Faist:
I’m neither, but it’s not important for me if I get it –

Coby Smith:
It’s not important –

Thomas Faist:
[inaudible]
Coby Smith:
Black people unfortunately, they think it must be.  I don’t get any rewards for it either and that’s why it’s kind of interesting.  I’m runnin’ against some people who never had to do any of this, but nobody’s gonna come along and say this guy spent 30 years or 25 years of his life in the movement.  He deserves it.

Thomas Faist:
That’s for sure.

Coby Smith:
Guys like this have done nothin’.  Go to work, cheese and what we call Uncle Tommy.  That’s what they do and they get old.  So, there have been no rewards to a prude of people for thinking the way I think.  In fact, the best way to be ostracized is to go 

[1:25:00]
around and let people know you think that way.

Now White can come in and say the same thing and you couldn’t accuse a White of being a Black militant.  You’d say, oh, that guy is real radical for a White guy, but nobody’s gonna take money out of his pocket for it.  Look at Jane Fonda’s husband.  He’s a guy who’s shit kickin’ radical, right?

Thomas Faist:
I only heard about it a few times.

Coby Smith:
But he’s married to a movie star.  He has money.  He owns property.

Thomas Faist:
He can afford it.

Coby Smith:
But nobody’s upset.  This is unfortunate because Black people are causing themselves a problem.  Coretta Scott King causes us a problem when she won’t permit anything to happen in Memphis without money goin’ to Atlanta for Martin King’s memorial down there.  He was killed here at the Lorraine.  We don’t want that 

[1:26:00]
eyesore, that ugly thing down there that nobody can do anything with.  We don’t want that.


But every time we raise a dollar for it, they want it to go to Atlanta, Georgia.  So there are many of us who have been forced out of the movement because Andy Young and Coretta and Jesse Jackson and Ben Hooks can call the shots in the city of Memphis, which is the NAACP’s strongest city.


They have not only the general secretary, but the treasurer from Memphis, Tennessee.

Thomas Faist:
Who’s the treasurer?

Coby Smith:
Jesse Turner.  He now has been made president of the county commission.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; I heard about that.  I didn’t know he’s treasurer of the NAACP.

Coby Smith:
He’s the treasurer of the NAACP.   When you get to treasurer you can get a general secretary, an executive director.  Vern Jordan was shot.  That wasn’t an accident.  I will never believe that some irate 
[1:27:00]
person just looked and saw him at a motel with a White woman and shot him.  You believe that?

Thomas Faist:
Sure not.  There are too many of us.

Coby Smith:
I cannot believe that Martin King’s wife would be sent tape recordings of sexual relationships that he was having with other women.  That’s not an accident.  Your inside people have to do that.  Some of those people had to put the tape under the bed.  Federal agents couldn’t have done all that.


Now how much of it can we prove?  We can prove a lot of it, but who’s gonna believe it?  What difference is it gonna make?  We proved that J. Edgar Hoover was after Martin King.  What difference does it make?
[1:28:00]
I’ll show you exactly what – they didn’t even mention Martin King in this one.  Where’s that J. Edgar Hoover mess.  Just put that paper down right here with Lorenzo in it.

Thomas Faist:
I think it’s this one.

Coby Smith:
Oh, here it is.  Okay; look at this.  

Thomas Faist:
I read about Hoover’s tactics back in Germany.  The impression I got, right now all these things are very obvious and there is evidence what Hoover did, but well, it’s published in books.  

Begin Segment 17 at 1:28:49:25
Coby Smith:
Who reads?  Even in Germany, who reads?

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; and if you turn on the TV news, nobody is every gonna 

[1:29:00]
know.  That’s true.      
Coby Smith:
That’s something very important incidentally that you just mentioned.  The TV was the source from which most people found out about the Black power movement.  After the King assassination, Stokley Carmichael and other Black militants were selectively taken out of the news.  The only person you could ever hear about was Jesse Jackson.

Thomas Faist:
On the other hand I think the media also made it possible, for example, that people the beginning of the 60s saw the atrocities the police committed in Birmingham so that it was desegregated.  That was one of the positive uses of it, but still you’re right in pointing out .

Coby Smith:
But remember that it was not just that the media was doing us a 
[1:30:00]
favor.                             
Thomas Faist:
No, no not.  Yeah; I don’t think so neither; yeah; sure.

Coby Smith:
The media wanted to man, you see these Blacks are rising up.  They want their rights.  They’re different.  They’ve changed.  


We’d go in and at that time we would present the uncontrovertable truth.  When women and children can be ridden down by men with clubs on horses and have dogs and tire hoses turned loose against them, you gotta wanna know exactly what they did wrong for that to happen and there was nothing wrong that they did.


So it was easier to show that on the news because that was significant, man.  It’s still happening today, but we don’t get upset when the people who were interested in the nuclear freeze 

[1:31:00]
movement get drug off from a picket line.  Everybody takes it for granted.  We’re so used to it.  We saw so much of it on TV.  We saw Kent State on TV.

Thomas Faist:
Just a whole different question.  Why do you think that, for example, Blacks here in Memphis and I think all over the country are not involved, most of them are not involved in this nuclear freeze movement?

Coby Smith:
The nuclear freeze movement is a large part intellectual community movement.  In the 1960s, well not even just in the 60s, but in the 60s after Kent State and Orangeburg and the other campus shootings, Spiro Agnew came to office talking about how 

[1:32:00]
the radical students were destroying America.  All for the chance to fight these left wing people out at the university complexes.


He created a tone in America that education was bad.  That same tone is what Ronald Reagan is talking about when he says, ‘We will cut funding in education.’  I wrote my dissertation on a subject called the Control Relationship between Higher Education Policy and the Politics of Black People.  When the Black college campus was a sanctuary for Blacks to think and develop, we developed radicals.  

[1:33:00]
Following the King assassination, every state in the country went out to put Blacks in education to get them off the streets.  Anybody could go to college.  ‘Get them off the streets.’  Don’t leave ‘em in the cities to burn the cities down.  We want every able bodied Black youngster in school or somewhere where they can’t do any damage.  Integrate ‘em in White schools.  Don’t send ‘em to Black schools.  Send ‘em far away from home.


Every campus had a youth program.  Send the kids off to work camps and everything else they could send ‘em to.  Pay ‘em to go.  We’re gonna have war on poverty and everything else.  


That view started to create a different mandate for Blacks.  You 

[1:34:00]
had people talkin’ about jobs and you had ‘em talkin’ about other kinds of things at that point in time.  How to be successful.  How to integrate.  How to become part of corporate America.  [Audio stops and starts]


Cruel world.  See what I mean.  Livin’ the life.  I ain’t got to worry about the wall tonight.  The wall.  Where I’m goin’ after that, I’m really goin’ after that.  (inaudible)and I got a two-way.  I can’t understand that.  Uh uh.  He gonna call and raise hell and he ain’t gonna have to go home.  [Audio stops and starts]

Begin Segment 18 at 1:34:42:14

attending higher education began to shift to 

[1:35:00]
predominantly White schools as opposed to the traditional Black colleges.  All of a sudden we had people getting a different style of education; assimilationist in nature.  


That created a major problem.  For example, the girl who’s Miss Black America is a student at Syracuse.  She’s not a student at Lemoyne-Owen.  Bryan Gumbel was not a student at a Black college.  He is a part of the new integration, the new wave of integration and as such, those individuals [Audio stops and starts]


-- and they had dogs, they had guns, they had all this stuff.  Makin’ poor old people were scared.  So on Saturday – this is before they closed Main Street and turned it into a mall, all the buses went 

[1:36:00]
down the street and the only people who would be downtown on late Saturday afternoon were Blacks waitin’ on the bus.  They been shoppin’, they been workin’ and they’re on their way home.


The Klan come down here and then drivin’ people off the sidewalk.  So I got up there, man, and I called the guy who had the dog and the gun all over his shoulder.  I said, ‘Look, get that fuckin’ dog off the sidewalk and get that gun and get the rest of the son of bitches out of here.’  


The problem was – see, they were armed and everything, but there was more of us.  Old people, man, old ladies.

Thomas Faist:
Why did they try to get you off the sidewalk in the first place?

Coby Smith:
They were havin’ their march.  They didn’t care.  Black people’s invisible.  Get off the sidewalk.  Nobody said anything so they just scarin’ ‘em, see.  But Black people were just like little sheep.  When they’d come along, they just busy tryin’ to get out to work.


So I said ‘Wait a minute.  Get that damn dog out of the street.’  All 

[1:37:00]
I had was a little football in my hand.  The guy says, ‘What you mean?’  And he wanted to say nigger and I said, ‘I don’t wanna hear that nigger shit.  I don’t wanna hear nothin’.  You and me and that dog are gonna go.’  So they went on out the street.  Started marching on the street from there on out.


I said, ‘Don’t y’all move.’  I told the Black people, ‘Don’t another one of you move.  Get off this street.  Get out of the street.  Come up here on the sidewalk.  We waitin’ on the bus.  You better get out of here.  We’ll jump on all of you and you’ll have to use that gun.’


So they went down to the police headquarters and had a prayer service on the steps.  So I followed ‘em down there.  I’m standin’ across the street mad because the Klan can have their prayer service on the public steps of the police buildin’.  I’m hot as I can be.  


The next day in the paper they got in there, ‘Coby Smith harasses the Ku Klux Klan as they have prayer meeting.’  

Male:
Prayer meeting?

Coby Smith:
Yeah.                              
[1:38:00]
Thomas Faist:
Pray for a lynching, huh?

Coby Smith:
Right.  Now, they wouldn’t say, ‘Young Black prevents older people from being pushed off the sidewalk by armed Klansmen with dogs.’  They wouldn’t say that.  The way they reported it was that I was the one raisin’ the hell.  That’s where some of the bad impressions came from.


But getting back to where we were before, the idea I was trying to project was that it was a purpose of design to take Blacks and force us into higher education and into areas of career areas and others where Blacks felt that they had no choice but to go along with what White’s wanted.


So if you can do that, if you can imagine the difference, all of a sudden we have people who have no real roots, no connectedness 
[1:39:00]
with other Black people.  No tradition.  Don’t understand the struggles.


Now where do these people go?  They go to work for IBM, Federal Express, these companies that pretend to be color blind, but how can they be color blind and the whole corporate leadership is White.  

Thomas Faist:
So you don’t see any positive development in the assimilation – you call it assimilationist tendency of Black students going to White campuses.

Coby Smith:
No.

Thomas Faist:
Your personal experience is somewhat contradictory, isn’t it?

Coby Smith:
Well, but see, Southwestern didn’t make me.  I was me before I went over there and I remained me.  They’ve taken those other students.  I go over there and look at the students occasionally and I talk to ‘em.  I’m always very disappointed because they have no sense of what it means to relate to community.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; but they also pick Black students over at Southwestern, it’s my impression who –

[1:40:00]
Coby Smith:
Precisely it.  That is called a controlled relationship.  In other words, if I pick you when you’re vulnerable and I turn you into an idiot, an idiot is not a person who knows absolutely nothin’.  It’s a person who is unaware or ignorant to their own needs.  We cannot produce a generation of Black people who are so selfless until they think they’re White.

Begin Segment 19 at 1:40:24:09

See, we didn’t say who think that they are equal or anything else.  I said who think they’re White.  But schools like Southwestern have – this kid here, for example, is into the prestige thing.  He and his wife are both Southwestern grads.  So when they have the cotton carnival -- I better not say this.  Take this off the – [Audio stops and starts]

But the problem is that if the style and tone for integration is set in a concessionary manner by Blacks on White campuses and they get to be successful, they get to be the Jane Kennedy’s and the 

[1:41:00]
Bryant Gumbel’s and all that other business.  Then you find the Black students on the traditional Black campus emulating that behavior.

Thomas Faist:
But don’t you think that has been true for the 50s and 60s too?

Coby Smith:
No; no.  See, we had a different set of needs.  In the 50s and 60s our goal was to prove we were equal.  So if you went to a White school in the 60s or 50s, you knew what your responsibility was.  You were out there representing your people.


Now you get a girl that says she’s gonna be Miss America.  No, I don’t represent Black people.  I’m an individual.  Sure, she’s an individual.  All of us are individuals, but we are individuals who pursue something, some goal.  Martin King was an individual, but he fought for a lot of people, Black and White.


So now people have the image that in order to be an individual they can’t be committed to anything.  Harry Belafonte’s daughter 

[1:42:00]
says she’s an individual.  She is an individual, but her individuality is based on the fact that her daddy made some sacrifices.


There are people in Germany now who said, ‘We’re individuals.  We didn’t have anything to do with Hitler.’  But you can’t forget Hitler.  You can’t forget what he did to the world or what has transpired because people think that they are doin’ what he would have wanted.  We got ‘em here in the states.  Nazi’s runnin’ all over the place.

Thomas Faist:
But what you are arguing for is a sort of what I would call race consciousness.

Coby Smith:
I’m arguing for multi-culturalism.

Thomas Faist:
But that Black people have to be conscious that they are Black.

Coby Smith:
Sure ya’ do.

Thomas Faist:
Yes; and I think that this idea of – I don’t know how I should call it.  I’ll just call it race consciousness.  That this idea has – how 
[1:43:00]
should I say – for most middle class and upper class people, it just has a declining significance.


For example, if you look at this for the thinking –

Coby Smith:
something happens.

Thomas Faist:
For example, books are published like James Wilson, he’s professor of sociology I think he’s at Harvard or Chicago, I don’t know.  For example, he writes books that are titled, The Declining Significance of Race and things like that.

Coby Smith:
But his data is incorrect.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; sure.  I know that.  But I think it’s the prevailing mood amongst most Blacks.  What do you think?  It’s not.

Coby Smith:
it’s not the prevailing mood.

Thomas Faist:
It’s not.

Coby Smith:
See, Blacks don’t wanna be indifferent to race.  They just find that it is easier.  You know what I was telling you about people being afraid that Martin King was killed by doing right?  You just don’t want him to be killed.  They don’t wanna be harassed.  They don’t wanna be held accountable.  They want the good things, but people aren’t scared.  


They did the same thing when the Klan rode through here on horseback with robes killin’ Blacks.  That’s what fear does to you.  

[1:44:00]
That fear has never come out of Blacks.  The fear that you could be destroyed, that your children, your future can be destroyed.  If one incident involving race occurs.


Look at poor Vernon Jordan.  A lifetime, a lifetime of just accomplishment and one night.  There he is in a motel room or outside of a motel with a White woman and he got shot in the back.  Do you know how many Black people turned against him?  And the Black women said, ‘Oh, there, he’s just like [inaudible] He was out there with that White woman’ as if he didn’t have a right to be wherever he was with whoever he wanted to be with.  That’s race.  That’s racism.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; so would you say that it’s basically the fear of Black people and not what for example, Ron Walter would say, ‘People adapt to 

[1:45:00]
the manners that they climb the social ladder.’

Coby Smith:
Right.  It is the fear.  It’s not assimilation.  Let me give you an example of someone who is assimilated.  Muhammad Ali is assimilated.  

Thomas Faist:
Why would you say that?

Coby Smith:
Oh man, he has more White fans than he has Black fans, but he didn’t get the White fans because he was a jelly fish because he had no spine.  He said ‘Look, I’m not goin’ to your war.  I’m gonna be a Muslim.  Elijah Muhammad is my leader.  You all can kiss my butt.  Take the title if you want to.  I’m the champion.  I’m the people’s champion.’


He said it so much until Howard Cosell and them all started sayin’ it too.  So the acceptance of this man is not based on his being a Creole – whatcha' call them cookies?  

Female:
Oreo.

Coby Smith:
Oreo cookie.  See, everybody accept men.  Black kids grow up saying I’m the greatest just like White kids.  White kids grow up 

[1:46:00]
saying I’m the greatest just like Black kids.  They love him.  Greatest champion ever and their man.  

What it does have to do is how he got what he got.  Now ya’ have a lot of little Blacks who wanna pretend everything is milk and cookies.  Grinnin’ all the time, even when they heard me.  Grinnin’.  That’s just like it was in the old days.  


Ron Walters, successful man makin’ a lot of money.  He doesn’t apologize for bein’ Black.  
Begin Segment 20 at 1:46:34:09
He can describe what’s goin’ on, but here’s a man involved in the process.  He’s not lyin’ about who he is.  He’s not afraid to be Black.  You have a significant number of people who work for the banks and IBM who will not associate with other Blacks.


You had Ben Hooks jump out and say that Jesse Jackson ain't got no business runnin’ for president.  All he’ll do is make it so a 

[1:47:00]
White so and so and so and so will do this, that and the other.  In other words, we are too afraid of how Whites will react.  We’re not making decisions based on our feelings.


We have a mutual friend that we both do business with.  The guy owns the company; Jewish guy.  Really nice guy.  The guy ain’t perfect.  He doesn’t understand what poverty is about at all.  He couldn’t understand.  If today you told him you didn’t have $100.00 in your pocket that you could spend he would not understand that.  He thinks that anybody who wants $100.00 can have it.  That’s what he sincerely believes in his heart.

Thomas Faist:
He’s not the only one though.

Coby Smith:
Right; well there are a lot of people who believe that.  Now there are a lot of Black people who believe that, too because successful 

[1:48:00]
people have $100.00, but when you really consider all that’s involved the elements of racism are there.


We had a guy who came out this year on the school board who wanted a C standard created in our schools before youngsters could graduate.  He may not be a hood wearin’ Klansman, but his idea and his actions are racist.  The reason they’re racist is because we can prove that test scores and social income aren’t runnin’ parallel. 

We also can prove that when we spend as much money on a Black youngster as we spend on a White younger’s education, they’ll do just as well.  We prove that at Southwestern every day.  


Yet you don’t find White’s goin’ through any change because they go to Southwestern.  You find Blacks goin’ through a change.  There’s no pressure on Whites to be different.  

[1:49:00]
Thomas Faist:
I would say that it’s not the Southwestern campus where Black students undergo these change.  I think it’s a class issue, too.  For me it’s not only – you say okay, it’s racism, but I would say that for example, those Black students going to Southwestern, their socialization, they are socialized in their environment at home in Black bourgeois families, something like that they are already –

Coby Smith:
It may be low income.

Thomas Faist:
It may be.

[Coby speaks to someone else]
[1:50:00]
Coby Smith:
What you have though is Blacks using education to get ready for the cotillion.  We all go to the cotillion, but we ain’t got nothin’ to celebrate ‘cause it ain’t what ya’ know.  It’s who ya’ know in America today.

Nobody cares about that degree I got from Southwestern.  When they meet me they won’t see the degree.  They see the color.  They don’t listen to me and talk about what I know or anything else.  Look at Southwestern.  Where are the Black Panthers?


You mean to tell me Blacks are so ignorant we can’t have one faculty member?  I know all the faculty over there.  I’m sure very few of them are that outstanding.  

Thomas Faist:
You’re right.  More than right.

Coby Smith:
So what you see is a system of racism that forces us all to have to change our little pattern and look and – most of us don’t have the 

[1:51:00]
integrity just to stand up and say that’s wrong.  Instead we try to fit in.
Female:
That’s right.  It’s easier.

Coby Smith:
It’s hard to fight, man.  You gotta be a certain kind of person to wanna struggle against everything.  Man, if every Black were like Jesse Jackson we would have no problem, but how many people have the luxury of standing back and doing that?  

Begin Segment 21 at 1:51:21:01

When I was at Southwestern they used to ask students to almost avoid me.  Black students.  White students could do what they want to.  If they felt like bein’ my friend, okay.  They felt like associatin’ with me, okay, but there was pressure on the Black students to make a choice.

Thomas Faist:
From their parents?

Coby Smith:
The peer pressure.  Pressure from Whites that they liked or who would give them a chance to kind of co-exist.  [Audio stops and starts]
[1:52:00]
From Germany.  If we ever get to a point where our people can freely represent our own interest – why should a youngster from the ghetto in poverty have to change everything they like, wear the same Izod’s and everything else in order to get over it.
Thomas Faist:
I think that’s perfectly the problem because every Black youngster from the ghetto who wants to ‘make it’, he has to adapt to White middle class manners.
Coby Smith:
That’s the racism.

Thomas Faist:
I would say that this is both racism and this class issue, because there are also White low income youngsters who also have to adapt because their culture, too, is different.

Coby Smith:
Well, Jerry Lee Lewis didn’t have to adapt.  Elvis didn’t have to adapt.  It’s not true that Whites have to adapt.

[1:53:00]
Thomas Faist:
No, no; I just – they have –

Coby Smith:
You follow what I’m sayin’?  Money makes the difference.  Elvis Presley had a million dollars.  He could buy a Cadillac.  He could do anything he wanted to.  He could wiggle, shake his butt in public.  Nobody said anything except our hero, the king.


Chuck Barry taught him how to do all of that.  He did all that long before Elvis thought about doin’ it.  Made no money.  Now he’s a old man about to die.  He got nothin’.  


The problem is and Blacks, man, Michael Jackson recognizes that if he spends his time trying to be himself or be anything other than a color neutral person he will not make any money.  He knows this.  

[1:54:00]
It is cast.  Cast is something that involves both race and class.

Thomas Faist:
Yeah; but what I wanted to say, there are a lot of things which have to be associated with lower class and which are true for both Black and White and then you have also racism.  That makes case, too.  You’re totally right –

Coby Smith:
Oh, I agree with that.  I definitely agree with that.  I went to school with White youngsters who couldn’t afford to let me know they were poor.  You come to Southwestern and pretend.  Join a fraternity.  Try to pick ‘em up with girls, try to pick ‘em a husband.  Guys try to pick ‘em a wife who can help ‘em do better and wanted to get out of that.


We were all going to the same cotillion, but I never had a reason to dance.  There was nothin’ to celebrate for me.  Comin’ out of what into what?  My daddy is not the head of Plough Incorporated.  So it didn’t matter how smart I was.  My daddy’s not the head of 

[1:55:00]
Plough.  I don’t live here because I just love the ghetto.  Ya’ know what I mean? 


After graduation when they gave me that diploma I still had to take that diploma and go down and ask White people to hire me.  The guys says, ‘You are one of 200 people in your class.’  Says, ‘That’s wonderful.  I’m sorry.  We love you.  Your credentials are great, but you can’t work here.  Would you like to leave Memphis?  Why don’t you go to New York or California somewhere where there a little more open minded.  Go to Massachusetts.’  


In other words there’s nothin’ here for me.  White youngsters aren’t driven out of this city that way.  


There have been some changes.  This girl was married to a White 

[1:56:00]
fellow.  But by the same token, you can see the White in this guy and his whole family.  


Somehow or another in America everybody wants to forget the reality.  Ninety percent of the Blacks in this city live at or below the poverty level.

Begin Segment 22 at 1:56:25:02
Thomas Faist:
Yeah; but what I’m interested in really is there are points where people tend not to go in [Audio stops and starts]  I don’t know what happened.  It still works.

Coby Smith:
But your point again?

Thomas Faist:
What was the point?  Yeah; the points in history, for example, just the movement when this reality – well I just wanted to say it’s a 

[1:57:00]
sort of a knit or a chain and some links of the chain, they break and they’re not 90 percent of the people trying to forget reality.  There are more people trying to see reality at some points of history.


Like for example, when the movement started in the 60s.  

Coby Smith:
Not many people were involved in the movement.

Thomas Faist:
But a lot more than today.

Coby Smith:
Many people benefitted from the movement, but not many were involved in the movement.  It’s not as if there were hundreds of people like me in Memphis.  That’s not true.

Thomas Faist:
I bet that because I know from peace  movement activities that there are only well, 0.1 percent of people involved and a lot more benefit from it, but still there are points when I think when activity is possible and when some people can afford to fight this dream 

[1:58:00]
world.

Coby Smith:
I would say yes to that, but we still have some problems involved in that.  Here’s a young lady who obviously has broken the racial barrier.  Does this mean that Blacks are now involved in setting the standard for beauty and accomplishment in America?

Thomas Faist:
Sure no.

Coby Smith:
Well, I rest my case.  As Dr. Lowry says right here, he says, ‘Blame the pageant, not Black women for takin’ 57 years to recognize that intelligence, talent and beauty are not exclusive properties of any racial or ethnic group – any including Blacks.’


If you go out and tell a guy that we’re gonna have a race, you and I are gonna run down the street, ya’ got a lot of people who will bet on me, whether I can run or not.  You out run me and they’d be 

[1:59:00]
sitting there saying, ‘Wow.’ 


They have in their minds some racism that says well, the savage oughta be able to out run the White.  Racism is interesting.  Now a lot of people think that there’s such a thing as reverse racism.  I’m not interested in that kind of stuff.  I don’t believe that.


I believe that Blacks internalize the same racism that Whites internalize.  The same direction.

Thomas Faist:
Well that’s perfectly I think that’s the only way to explain why Blacks respond to White racism in the way that they feel and act so that they can be kept in the way they are.

Coby Smith:
Right; we set ourselves up for it.  It’s a part of the social script.  If this is what your grandmother did and other people, fine.  When I was a kid growin’ up the ideal person to meet and marry was this guy woulda' been ideal for nine out of ten of the Black women.  This is oh man, he’s light skinned, got curly hair, looks more like 

[2:00:00]
Whites than we do; fine.  That’s my husband.  That’s what I want.     
Thomas Faist:
Well that’s true because the most of it, when I look at Black people here in Memphis and a lot of those that I saw.  For example, politicians holding office.  If they are very dark skinned men.  They have at least very light skinned woman, Black woman.

Coby Smith:
You have to have one.  That used to be the rule.  That used to be the absolute –

Thomas Faist:
But it’s still is you still can see it.  Even among people who are 30 or 35 years old.  I don’t know if it’s still the rule.

Coby Smith:
That’s going back.  It’s going back to that again.  There’s another girl who’s dark skinned who’s just as pretty as this one who didn’t win.  There’s a lot of racism in people.  A lot of people say, well, yeah good, Harold Ford,  wonderful.  Elect him.  Don’t elect Otis.  Otis 

[2:01:00]
looks too much like an African couldn’t lead anybody. 
Thomas Faist:

No; you’re right.

Coby Smith:
Harold Ford looks light skinned, man.  Everybody can identify with him.  A lot of people don’t even know he’s really Black or White.  If they don’t read and don’t know they don’t care.  Look at the pictures and well, the guy looks White.

Begin Segment 23 at 2:01:15:13
Thomas Faist:
How would you respond to an opinion like Blacks in the last two, three, four decades, just a very general opinion from someone to say Blacks have made a lot of progress.  In the economic sphere, look at all those Blacks who made it.  In the political sphere, they’ve got the political representation or the members of the city council and things like that.  How would you respond to it?  I know that’s a very awful question extending [inaudible]
Coby Smith:
Individually there have been some successful people in every area.  

[2:02:00]
If you take wealth in this country, per capita wealth, Blacks are way, way, way behind.  We are not involved in the major economy in this country at all.  Yes, our economy, if we took all the dollars that Blacks handle would represent the 11th largest economy in the world; more than Poland.


If you took actual individual statistics, yes, some people have done very well, but in politics we only have two percent of all the elected officials in the country; two percent.  We make up roughly 20 percent of the country; two percent of the elected officials are Black.


If we consider our penetration in the economic area, have you ever heard of a Black having the kind of money that Augustus Bush has or 

[2:03:00]
where’s the Black Rockefeller?  Can you identify him for me?  Where are the Blacks in the arts?  Theater?  Where are they?  In the movies?


Where are they? We could sit here and look at TV from now on and not see a Black in a movie, except Roots and a few other little things.  We just don’t appear.  We’re not there.

Thomas Faist:
But who do you think, for example, from a European perspective, for me it’s interesting that only in the 60s you really had among Black communities, people who thought of alternatives, not as in a capitalist way, but in a socialist way of ordering a structure in American society.  What do you think about this alternatives?  Are 

[2:04:00]
they really feasible alternatives for Blacks in the United States?

Coby Smith:
Socialism?

Thomas Faist:
Yes.

Coby Smith:
Yes; very definitely, until – and we have a lot of socialism in the United States.  Public education is socialist.  Public medicine is socialist.  Everything that’s public is socialist, is that right?

Thomas Faist:
Except the economy.

Coby Smith:
The economy has a lot of socialism in it as well.  [Audio stops and starts]

What we have done since the 60s is to point out areas where the public sector could be used to develop our needs, to represent our needs.  The private sector has not paid us any attention at all.

Thomas Faist:
But I mean that’s the essential part.  Okay; the public sector, the programs were extended, but it really burns down to the private sector, the corporate sector.
[2:05:00]
Coby Smith:
It’s not penetrating the private sector.  Look in any board room and tell me how many board members are there.  

Thomas Faist:
But I think 99 percent of Blacks in America would exclude alternative  socialism.

Coby Smith:
I don’t really think so, but remember that J. Edgar Hoover was against Martin King because of the influence of socialist over him.  We had in the early 50s the McCarthy era, which means that nobody Black or White wants to be identified excessively with the Communist or socialist movements. 

Thomas Faist:
I know that; yeah.

Coby Smith:
That is just one of the –

Thomas Faist:
It’s a deterrent.

Coby Smith:
-- unfortunate propaganda and control mechanisms used against developing people.  We don’t want it in Nicaragua.  Here we are all down in south and Latin America tellin’ people they cannot –

[End of Audio] 
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